94050.9

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

Superior Court Cause No.: 13-2-04785-8 Division III, Court of Appeals Cause No. 338274

# THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LEE L. MACKESSY,

Petitioner/Appellant,

 $\mathbf{v}_{\bullet}$ 

RICHARD J. ALLINGER,

Respondent.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Brant L. Stevens, WSBA No.: 27249 222 W. Mission Ave., Suite 25 Spokane, Washington 99201 Phone (509) 325-3999 Fax (509) 325-0127 Attorney for Petitioner/Appellant



### **

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- [1] Whether The Trial Court Erred In Holding The Petitioner Had No Legal Theory To Support Her Action And In Denying The Petition When The Court Made A Finding Of Fact That The Military Retirement Was Not Included Or Disposed Of In The Decree Of Dissolution.
- [2] Whether The Trial Court Erred In Finding That (1) The Parties' Previous Legal Representation Disclosed And Discussed The Military Retirement And (2) That Allinger Was Still Burdened By Substantial Debt Taken From The Dissolution In 1998 When The Testimony By Both Parties Contradicts Such Findings.
- [3] Whether The Trial Court Erred In Holding The Equitable Defenses Of Waiver, Laches, And Promissory Estoppel Applied When Insufficient Evidence Was Presented To Support The Defenses At Trial.

20 Sept. 10 Sept. 15 Sept. 15

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner Mackessy has requested the Supreme Court of the State of Washington Review the Court of Appeals, Division III Unpublished Opinion affirming the trial court's denial of Petitioner Mackessy's lawsuit to partition Respondent Allinger's Military Retirement as a matter of law as an undisposed community asset.

Allinger and Mackessy were lawfully married on November 1, 1986, in Aiken, South Carolina. CP4. Both Allinger and Mackessy were employed by the United States army at the time of their marriage. *Id.* Allinger joined the military on September 23, 1985. *Id.* Allinger was in and out of the Army and Reserves until 2012. *Id.* Mackessy retired from the Army during the marriage and prior to the dissolution. RP 39:21-14.

The parties initially filed for divorce in 1996, both were represented by counsel. Trial Exhibit P1. The parties reconciled and had their third child. RP 39:13. The parties then petitioned for divorce in 1998. CP 5. An order of Dissolution was entered on December 2, 1998, Cause Number 98-3-01639-4. The dissolution was approved by the then Honorable Commissioner Ellen Clark. CP 7-8. Section 2.8 of the Finings of Facts and Conclusions of Law was marked and listed the parties' community property. *Id.* Allinger's military retirement was not listed in Section 2.8. *Id.* Section 2.9 was marked and identified Allinger's and Mackessy's

separate property. *Id.* Allinger's military retirement was not listed as separate property of either of the parties. *Id.* Additionally, the military retirement was not referenced or listed or memorialized in the Decree of Dissolution. *Id.* 

Mackessy left the military sometime between 1986 and 1988 because Allinger was activated out of reserves and Mackessy chose to quit the military in order to stay at home with their children while Allinger was in Iraq for over 15 months. RP 39:21-24; RP 58:9-10. Mackessy never returned to the military during the duration of the parties' marriage or after. Mackessy had been out of the military nearly ten (10) years without an intention to return at the time of the dissolution in 1998. *Id*.

Allinger's military retirement matured on July 31, 2012, and now receives monthly compensation directly correlated to the length of Allinger's service and rank upon retirement. Trial Exhibit R106. Allinger currently receives approximately \$2,487.00 each month for his retirement benefits. *Id.* 

The parties modified their residential schedule and parenting plan relating back to the 1998 dissolution several times: in 2005, 2010, and 2013.

Mackessy became aware of Allinger's military retirement through Allinger's financial disclosures during discovery relating to a petition for modification filed by Allinger in 2013. RP 53:1-4. Mackessy brought this partition action on November 21, 2013, less than nine (9) months after learning of Allinger's military retirement. CP 1.

In March of 2015, Mackessy and Allinger filed cross motions for summary judgment. CP 34-41, 50-56. The Court denied both parties' motion for summary judgment holding that there was an issue of material fact as to the parties' agreement at the time of dissolution that prohibited a ruling on summary judgment. CP 115-116.

This matter went to trial on August 11, 2015. The Court heard testimony from Mackessy and Allinger.

At trial, counsel agreed that it is undisputed that Allinger receives military retirement benefits and the parties' community property interest was 35 percent of the retirement and Mackessy' separate property interest is 17.5 percent. The proper calculation would be 17.5 percent of Allinger's retirement to Mackessy or approximately \$435.00 per month if the Court were to partition the asset. RP 31:2-4.

At trial, Mackessy testified that in the initial divorce, Mackessy was represented by Peter Karademos and Allinger Represented by Mary Schultz. RP 38:14-16. Mackessy testified that neither attorney ever mentioned a pension or separation of Allinger's military pension as community property. RP 38:16-18; 39:7-8. Upon questioning by the

Court, Mackessy testified that for six months of the dissolution proceedings in 1996, the parties were actively litigating the divorce with discovery ongoing. RP 73-75. During redirect, Mackessy testified that the entirety of the litigation and discovery was focused exclusively on the Parenting Plan. RP 80:11-17.

At trial, Allinger also testified that the 1996 petition for divorce focused exclusively on the parenting plan. RP 94:15-25; 95:1-3. Allinger stated that the only issues discussed in the divorce were the parenting plan and the parties never got to the financial issues. *Id.* 

Mackessy testified that there was absolutely no discussion regarding the military retirement between Allinger and Mackessy when discussing what was allocated as assets in the dissolution in 1998. RP 41:8-20. Mackessy testified that had the military retirement been discussed it would have been written down and included in the dissolution. RP 65:12-14.

Mackessy testified that she first spoke to Allinger regarding the military retirement about three years ago in 2012, after Allinger requested a modification of the parenting plan and his retirement pension was disclosed on the financial worksheet. RP 53:1-4.

Allinger testified that the military retirement was discussed during the dissolution in 1998, but admitted that there were some things that were not included in the dissolution paperwork. 95-96.

Allinger argued that at each modification of the parenting plan, Mackessy waived and "re-waived" her rights to Allinger's military pension. CP 50-56. However, the military pension was never mentioned in any of the paperwork filed with the court. RP 107:16-19. Allinger testified that the petition for modification in 2013 was purely for housekeeping in order for the paperwork to reflect an accurate record of the agreement by the parties. RP 108:9-15. Allinger further testified that he was an organized person who likes to have his ducks in a row. RP 108-109.

Evidence was presented during the Summary Judgment proceedings and trial that Allinger discharged a significant portion of the debt he "took" from the dissolution in a chapter 7 bankruptcy filed on August 30, 2000, discharging the \$32,671.08 in unsecured debt from the divorce. CP 70-96.

The Court gave its ruling orally on August 13, 2015. The ruling is fully integrated into the Order. CP 177-180. The Court found that there is no dispute that Allinger's retirement was not mentioned in any of the divorce documents. RP 153:13-15. The Court added that a number of things were not included in the final divorce documents, although the documents were very well done and very thorough for pro se litigants. RP 153:16-25.

The Court explicitly emphasized that the fact that the military retirement was not an undisclosed asset. RP 154:23-24. The Court also focused on the fact that the parties had counsel in the initial petition for dissolution in 1996. The Court stated,

In my opinion, there is simply no chance, there is just no chance that, with attorneys of this caliber, that the military retirement, when the initial divorce was filed, that the military retirement and any retirement for that matter would not have been fully explored through discovery... Again, my point is, there is no undisclosed asset here. Ms. Mackessy knew the husband had retirement points, as we would call them. And Mr. Allinger knew that his wife had accumulated retirement points. So I guess the question before the Court is: Why not mention that in the divorce decree? And none of us can go back in time and climb into a time machine and figure all this out and be there. Only the parties know, and they have their—each of them have their perspective about what happened. Could be all sorts of reasons for this.

#### RP 156:14-25; 157:1-9. The Court continued:

Now, really, the biggest problem that I have is, I'll just call it Ms. Mackessy's theory of the case. And that really runs contrary to public policy that we want to promote in Washington State, and that policy is to allow people to contract between themselves and to settle cases without the necessity of time-consuming, expensive litigation."

RP 158:18-23. The Court continues to explain further issues with Mackessy's theory of the case when there is no purposely concealed property. RP 161: 22-23. The Court stated it understood partition actions wherein property is left out based on deception or fraud, but the Court

found that Mackessy had no theory of the case as nothing was hidden, nothing was concealed. RP 163:10-11.

The Court found that the military retirement was not included in the dissolution because it "just wasn't important enough for the parties to mention because the retirement doesn't amount to anything. It didn't amount to anything when they got divorced in December of 1998. And so, Ms. Mackessy walked away from the retirement." RP 164:2-6.

The Court concluded based on the fact that Mackessy knew the retirement benefits existed and were not listed in the dissolution that Mackessy has no valid, legal theory. "Ms. Mackessy, well, she shouldn't have signed off on the decree and the findings if she had any intention whatsoever of laying claim to the military retirement at a later date. There simply is no valid, legal theory that supports her argument. There is no fraud. There was no deception. There was no concealment." RP 166:2-6.

The Court continued to hold that Allinger had multiple theories, some of which were advanced to the Court, and some of which he didn't, that support denying the petition. RP 166:16-18. First, was the legal defense of waiver, the court found Mackessy waived any future claim to the retirement. "First and foremost would be waiver by the wife as to any future claim to retirement, and her actions clearly dictate that that's

exactly what she did." RP 166:19-21. The Court made no other findings relating to the defense of waiver.

The Court also held that the equitable theory of laches applied. The Court found Mackessy chose not to pursue the retirement plan for 16 years. RP 166:25-167:1. The Court found that Mackessy knew about the military retirement "from day one" and waited 16 years to pursue a claim. RP 167:5-9. The Court made no other findings under the theory of laches.

Finally, the Court proposed the equitable defense of detrimental reliance, which the Court found applied to this case. The Court stated, "When the wife signed that decree, Mr. Allinger relied on the fact that she wouldn't, at some future time, lay claim to the military retirement, and husband then relies on that to his detriment." RP 167:14-17. The Court continues, "So, arguendo, Mr. Allinger, who is disabled and he is the sole source of income in his household, supporting a wife and young child and sounds like an adult child too, relies on every penny of his military retirement probably in planning his finances and his life." RP 167:17-21. The Court continues, "When one considers that [sic] factor that the Court was made well aware of that Mr. Allinger is still laboring to pay off the huge amount of unsecured debt that it appears he took on after the divorce." RP 168:2-4. The Court made no other findings relating to the legal theory of detrimental reliance.

Based on these findings and conclusions, the Court denied the Partition action as it pertains to the military retirement in total. RP 168, 8:9. The Court also held that each party was responsible for its own attorney fees and costs. RP 169:19-22.

The Trial Court's findings and conclusions were appealed by Petitioner Mackessy to the Court of Appeals. Division III and a notice of appeal was filed on October 6, 2015.

The Court of Appeals ruled in favor of Respondent, denying the relief requested by Petitioner Mackessy on December 15, 2016. The Court of Appeals ruled without allowing oral argument on the matter and filed an Unpublished Opinion with one opinion written by Honorable Judge Korsmo, with Judge Lawrence-Berrey concurring. A separate concurring opinion was written by Honorable Judge Fearing.

In the majority opinion, the Court affirmed the trial court concluding that the failure to list a community asset in a dissolution decree does not permit later division by a court if the asset is not "overlooked." Further, the majority opinion affirmed the trial court's ruling that the Petitioner waived her interest in the military retirement even if the community asset was "overlooked" and subject to division.

The concurring opinion challenges and undercuts the legal analysis contained in the majority opinion; the concurring opinion argues first that

an analysis of an "overlooked asset" is misplaced and misguided as no Washington decisions use the term or element "overlooked" as a part of the legal analysis. Rather, courts use and analyze the terms "undisposed" or "unadjudicated."

Secondly, the concurring opinion discredits the majority's finding of waiver and equitable defenses as the majority does not even list the rules of waiver or analyze the application of the waiver doctrine. The concurring opinion questions whether the doctrine even applies.

The concurring opinion affirms the trial court's findings and conclusions by arguing that Washington should permit oral agreements to be reached by divorcing parties and upheld by trial courts based upon law from other jurisdictions, namely Florida, that allow enforcement of such oral agreements. There are no Washington cases or courts that support the concurring opinions position that oral agreements should be enforced during a dissolution by the courts.

#### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The Court of Appeals, Division III Majority Opinion and Concurring Opinion completely flip on its head Washington's longstanding rule that community property of the spouses not disposed of by a divorce decree vests equally in the parties as tenants in common as a matter of law. The Majority takes this clear rule and gouges out a new exception for

community assets that are not disposed of by the trial court in the dissolution decree, but not "overlooked" by the parties to rule against Petitioner in this case. The Concurring Opinion simply wants oral agreements as enforced by other jurisdictions to apply in Washington despite contrary statutes and case law.

The legislature, in the Dissolution of Marriage Act found in RCW 26.09, mandates not only disclosure, but disposition of the property of the parties by the trial courts. The specific requirement that the trial court shall make a just and equitable division of property, while considering the nature and extent of community and separate property, inherently requires the divorcing parties to disclose all of the assets and agreements between the party to the trial court. If the trial court is unaware of an asset it cannot adjudicate and dispose of the property. If the trial court is unaware of an asset, it cannot make a just and equitable division of property. When a community asset is not disposed of in a dissolution, as a matter of law at the time of divorce, the parties' interest in the asset is converted to joint tenants in common, subject to partition. Several cases support and reaffirm this longstanding rule.

This is exactly what happened in this case, and rather than partition the asset as a matter of law and pursuant to Washington statutes and case law, the trial court and court of appeals denied petitioner's request for partition.

The trial court found "no legal theory" or cause of action to partition the asset for the Petitioner. The Court of Appeal's Majority opinion found an exception to undisposed assets if they were not "overlooked" by the parties, without any case law support for the exception. The Majority Opinion also applied the equitable defenses of waiver and laches without any analysis of the defenses. And the Concurring Opinion affirmed the trial court arguing that oral agreements should be enforced in a divorce subsequent to dissolution, regardless of what the trial court knew or didn't know, disposed of or didn't dispose of, at the time of the decree of dissolution.

#### 1. General Legal Importance and Policy Implications

The Trial Court and Court of Appeals disregarded current Washington laws and precedent, violating the legislative intent for fair and just dissolutions, by holding that an unadjudicated asset in a dissolution, that was found to not be included in the dissolution nor known of by the court, should not be partitioned because the divorcing parties knew the community asset existed at the time of the dissolution. It was not an "overlooked" asset by the parties. Although this outcome favors policies related to the finality of judgments and the right to freely contract, it completely undercuts the clear policy, mandate, and intent of the legislature for all of the assets, community or separate, in a dissolution to

be known by the trial court in order to affect a just and fair distribution of assets.

The favoring of finality and freedom of contract over disclosure of assets for a fair and just dissolution undercuts the very purpose behind RCW 26.09. By allowing parties to freely contract, without any evidence of an agreement by writing, and without requiring disclosure to the trial court at the time of dissolution, the trial court and court of appeals are carving out a legal exception that creates chaos within the current state of the law, and creates a legal basis for parties to either defraud the court or manipulate the other party in a divorce. The Court of Appeals creates law that parties could take advantage of by hiding community assets from the trial court at the time of dissolution, yet subsequently being able to defend a partition action such as this by stating that the other party "knew about the asset/the asset wasn't overlooked." All the while, the deceiving party retains the asset as separate property despite its community property nature of the asset at the time of dissolution. The Court of Appeals does not require a specific level of evidence to successfully defend the partition action, not even a writing. This ruling actually encourages parties to not disclose community assets to the trial court with the intention of successfully defending a partition action, as long as the asset was not "overlooked." This exception and its extension, flips the legislative intent

for full disclosure, specificity of assets, and a fair and just division, on its head. The opinion not only creates law, by adding an exception not found in the statutory scheme, but it creates bad law that would encourage one party to take advantage of the other party through nondisclosure to the courts of a known asset. The policy implications of this ruling does nothing but harm and confuse the current state of the law and violate long standing policies and intentions for fair and equitable dissolutions created by the legislature.

2. Limited Washington Case Law on Point-Lower Courts Erred by Disregarding Applicable Law on Point; Appellate Court Drastically Conflicted on the Legal Application and Basis to Support Its Conclusion Creating the Appearance of Outcome Based Jurisprudence in an Unpublished Opinion.

The trial court relied on little to no statutory or case law to support its decision. However, the trial court did state that the issues presented in this case were "novel" and "new" despite the judge being involved with "hundreds, if not thousands" of divorce proceedings. The Appellate Court issued two opinions from three judges. The Majority Opinion creates a new exception for undisposed community property that is not "overlooked" by the parties, without any case law to support such an exception. The Concurring Opinion spent a large percentage of its opinion discrediting and challenging the Majority's analysis, legal applications, and reasoning. The Concurring Opinion then supports its conclusion using

foreign case law, requesting an extension of the current law in divorce proceedings to include oral agreements.

Despite the clear, longstanding case law that a party is entitled to partition as a matter of law if a community asset is not disposed of in a dissolution as the parties' interests convert to joint tenants in common, neither Court granted the Petitioner's request for partition on grounds currently unsupported by Washington Law.

The Court of Appeals chose to file an Unpublished Opinions although the Majority Opinion creates a new legal exception and the Concurring Opinion requests an extension of the current law to include oral agreements as seen in other jurisdictions. Typically these types of opinions are published creating precedent and persuasive authorities for future cases with similar facts. However, despite this exception and extension of the law, the Court of Appeals elected to file an Unpublished Opinion, leaving the exception created in the Majority Opinion, and the extension requested in the Concurring Opinion without any precedential weight or authority for future cases. The lower courts erred by violating the Petitioner's right as a matter of law to partition the undisposed of community property.

#### F. CONCLUSION

As the trial court's ruling and the court of appeal's affirmation was not founded in nor supported by current Washington State law, and are contrary to the legislative intent and policies behind RCW 26.09,

Petitioner Mackessy respectfully requests The Supreme Court of The State of Washington accept her Petition for Review.