RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Feb 17, 2017, 9:58 am

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

Supreme Court No. 94050-9 Appellate Case No. 33827-4-III Spokane County Superior Court Cause # 13-2-04785-8

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re:

Lee Mackessy, Appellant,

v.

Copy Received

FEB 1 6 2017

Richard Allinger, Respondent.

BRANT L. STEVENS

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Spencer W. Harrington, WSBA # 35907 Attorney for Respondent

Harrington Law Office, PLLC 1517 W. Broadway Avenue Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 838-8300



I. <u>

II. Statement of the Case

This action is a simple matter of the parties both serving in the military and earning "points" toward retirement and their subsequent agreement during their dissolution action to each keep any points earned.

The parties are Ms. Mackessy (Mackessy), the petitioner in the original partition action, and the appellant to Division III, and the petitioner in this action. Mr. Allinger (Allinger) was the respondent at trial, the respondent on Appeal to Division III, and the respondent herein.

The parties met while both were "active duty" service members. <u>RP 37</u>. They were both in the military in 1986 when they got married. <u>RP</u> <u>37</u>. Both parties earned military retirement points during the marriage from the date of marriage (November 1, 1986) until 1996. During this time both parties accrued substantially equal retirement points. Mackessy resigned her command in 1996. <u>RP 39</u>. The parties then separated in July 1998 and filed their dissolution action. Allinger had accrued barely 15 months more "community" points towards retirement than Mackessy at the time of separation.

Both parties then left military service prior to any vesting of retirement benefits. The parties then dissolved their marriage and each agreed to keep their own retirement "points". After the parties divorced, the American tragedy commonly known as 9/11 occurred. Allinger was reactivated into active duty service and eventually accumulated sufficient "points" to retire. Allinger did retire and does receive retirement and payments for a service related disability.

Mackessy had earned a Bachelor's of Science Degree, a Master's Degree in Science, and a Master's Degree in Business. <u>RP 56-57</u>. Mackessy's father is retired military receiving a retirement, and Mackessy's sister is a practicing attorney. <u>RP 53</u>. Mackessy is not an unsophisticated person and she is well educated.

The Decree was not a complete agreement. The parties had other agreements that they made and adhered to. The parties did not list household goods, family photos, bank accounts, insurance policies, and so forth. <u>RP 60-61 and 103-104</u>.

Importantly the parties did not even list the student loans incurred during the marriage. These student loans were in excess of \$18,000 but are not mentioned in the Decree. Nonetheless, Mackessy paid them because this is what they agreed to do between themselves. <u>RP 62-63 and RP 103-104</u>.

It is admitted by Mackessy that the Decree was not a complete agreement and that the parties made other agreements outside of the Decree. <u>RP 63, lines 5-11</u>. It is admitted by both parties that they divided

tangible property and non-tangible property (bank accounts for example) outside of the formal Decree.

The trial court correctly concluded that, for many reasons, "It didn't amount to anything when they got divorced in December 1998. And so, Mackessy walked away from that retirement, and likewise, so did Allinger." <u>RP 164</u>. In 1998, both parties had similar retirement "points" earned and both spouses waived any interest they had in the other's "points". The "points" earned are not undistributed but were distributed by agreement (as were many other assets and liabilities between the parties).

Thus, when the court indicates that the retirement "points" were not overlooked it is merely to indicate that it was a known asset that was distributed by agreement.

The default rule that property not awarded in the Decree vests in the parties as tenants in common is only applicable to undistributed property. <u>In re Marriage of Bishop</u>, 46 Wn. App. 198, 729 P.2d 647 (1986). In the instant case there is no undistributed property. The trial court correctly found, and it has not been appealed, that the parties distributed this asset by agreement.

III. Argument

In a strained effort to obtain discretionary review of the Court of Appeals' determination of her case, Mackessy mischaracterizes the holdings of the Court of Appeals and ignores existing law which supports these holdings.

RAP 13 .4(b) sets forth four conditions under which the Supreme Court may accept review of a decision of the Court of Appeals' terminating review of the lower court's decision. Mackessy fails to meet her burden to show that any of these bases have been met and, thus, her Petition for Review should be denied.

First, this court may accept review if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court. Here, Mackessy provides no argument, or support for this proposition, thus subsection (1) is not met. <u>RAP 13.4(b)(1).</u>

Second, this court may accept review if the decision is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals. Here, there is no such conflict cited, as none exists. Thus, subsection (2) is not met.

<u>RAP 13.4(b)(2).</u>

Third, this court may accept review if a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington, or of the United States is involved. Again, here, no such interest is implicated, which has not already been clearly addressed and defined. Thus, subsection (3) is not met. <u>RAP 13.4(b)(3).</u>

Finally, fourth, this court may accept review of a decision of the Court of Appeals if the issue involves an issue "of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." Here, no such interest is implicated. Thus, subsection (4) is not met. <u>RAP 13.4(b)(4)</u>.

Mackessy appears to argue, that because the majority and the concurring opinion from Division III reached the same conclusion but in different ways, that a conflict with a decision from this court exists. Thus argument fails on several fronts.

Mackessy failed to assign any assignment of error to the Trial Court Finding of Fact 2.28, which states:

> It makes no difference that the decree fails to specifically mention either military retirement because Petitioner knew all about it and they agreed to each keep their own. (Transcript Judge's Ruling, page 16, lines 20 - 24).

The court found, after trial, that the "asset" was disclosed and the asset was distributed by agreement between the parties. Mackessy's failure to assign error to this finding by the trial court is dispositive. Unchallenged findings of fact are verities on Appeal. <u>In re Marriage of</u> Brewer, 137 Wn.2d 756, 766, 976 P.2d 102 (1999). Thus, there is zero basis for the Appeal to Division III or Petition for Review by Mackessy.

Mackessy also intentionally misrepresents the written ruling by Division III. Thus, when the court indicates that the retirement "points" were not overlooked it is merely to indicate that it was a known asset that was distributed by agreement.

The default rule that property not awarded in the decree vests in the parties as tenants in common is only applicable to undistributed property. <u>In re Marriage of Bishop</u>, 46 Wn. App. 198, 729 P.2d 647 (1986). In the instant case there is no undistributed property. The trial court correctly found, and it has not been appealed, that the parties knew of the "asset" and distributed the "asset". Thus, by definition, there is no "undistributed" asset to be distributed by the courts.

Mackessy and Allinger distributed, by agreement, multiple items not specifically included in the Decree. The Decree did not include any bank accounts, insurance policies, retirement plans, over \$18,000 in student loans, and \$6,000 paid to Allinger to buy out his equity in the family home. Despite the fact that none of these items were specifically included in the Decree, they were all distributed between the parties by agreement.

7

When there is such overwhelming evidence that the parties distributed all of their assets/debts by agreement there is no basis for the court to intervene.

Mackessy presents three issues that appeal to this court. First, Mackessy asserts that it was error for the trial court to dismiss her petition when the court found that the "retirement" was not specifically listed on the face of the Decree. Mackessy's position ignores the fact that the court also found that the parties specifically addressed and distributed the "retirement" and many other assets not listed in the Decree by agreement.

Mackessy appears to be unable to accept the fact that parties may dispose of their assets by agreement and outside of a formal decree. People are generally free to bind themselves to any contract, barring illegality of subject matter or legal capacity. <u>Fosmo v. Department of</u> <u>Personnel</u>, 114 Wn.App 537, 540, 59 P.3d 102 (2002). Generally, people have the right to make their own agreements entirely oral, entirely in writing, or partly oral and partly in writing. <u>Barber v. Rochester</u>, 52 Wn2d. 691, 698, 328 P.3d. 711 (1958); <u>Lopez v. Reynoso</u>, 129 Wn.App 165, 171, 118 P.3d. 398 (2005). Here, the parties chose to enter into an agreement partially oral and partially in writing. The court found that all assets were duly distributed between the parties pursuant to the written decree and their oral agreements. Thus, there are no undistributed assets.

8

The remaining two allegations of error are surplusage as they are not germane to the dispositive issue but merely supportive findings of fact made by the court. The court, as the fact finder, had every right to determine that the parties knew about the retirement and that the "theory" proposed by Mackessy defied logic and was contrary to the facts.

Similarly, the third issue presented for review by Mackessy is devoid of any factual basis. While the trial court found that waiver, laches, and detrimental reliance were all invoked and proved, the court need only rely on a single defense to deny Mackessy's claims. The trial court (and Division III) both found waiver by Mackessy due to the fact that each party knew of the other's "points" and they both agreed to keep their own. This agreement by the parties not only distributed the "points" but also amounted to a waiver of the right to seek division of this same asset later.

Even if this court found that the "points" were not distributed, the only "points" that could even be before the court are approximately 16 months of earned "points" between the time Mackessy resigned in 1996 and the parties filed for divorce in July 1998. Thus, Mackessy brought this case allegedly to divide 16 months of "points" earned in a 20+ year career of Allinger. This equates to 6.66% that could be deemed community and 3.33% that Mackessy is apparently requesting.

9

It would seem absurd, and frivolous, to devote this amount of time and money for a mere 3% of a former spouse's retirement 17 years after the Decree was entered.

This action was pursued solely to harass Allinger, a decorated veteran who served his country and became disabled and unable to work as a result of his service to the United States. This court should award fees to Allinger for responding to this appeal.

The absurdity of Mackessy's request was not lost on the trial court. Mackessy never believed Allinger would stay in the military or earn a retirement from the military. <u>RP 53-54</u>. Allinger was activated after September 11, 2001, and eventually retired from military service with 90% disabled status. <u>RP 91</u>. At the time of trial Allinger received \$2,253 in military retirement. <u>RP 89</u>. Mackessy's request is equal to 3% of \$2,253 or \$67.59 per month or de minimis. The case is frivolous/harassment given Mackessy's asserted income of over \$150,000 annually, as any retirement benefit from Allinger would be de minimis.

Allinger is entitled to attorney fees and costs.

Mackessy repeatedly advances arguments that are without merit, frivolous, and designed only to drive up costs. This Court should award Allinger his attorney fees associated with this appeal. A court may award attorney fees to a prevailing party for having to defend against frivolous claims or arguments. <u>RCW 4.84.185</u>. An action or claim is frivolous when it cannot be supported by rational argument in fact or law. <u>Goldmark v. McKenna</u>, 172 Wn.2d 568, 582, 259 P.3d 1095 (2011). The court may award attorney fees on appeal in a dissolution proceeding "after considering the financial resources of both parties." RCW 26.09.140.

Intransigence is a basis for attorney fees in dissolution proceedings. <u>In re Marriage of Crosetto</u>, 82 Wn. App. 545, 564, 918 P.2d 954 (1996). This would also apply to supplemental proceedings as a result of a dissolution action as the same equitable principles would apply.

"Intransigence" may be shown by "litigious behavior, bringing excessive motions, or discovery abuses." <u>In re Marriage of</u> <u>Wallace</u>, 111 Wn. App. 697, 710, 45 P.3d 1131 (2002). "Intransigence" also describes parties motivated by their desire to delay proceedings or to run up costs. <u>Id.</u>

Mackessy's arguments are advanced without basis in law or fact and are simply a further attempt to drive up costs and delay the resolution of this matter. Allinger deserves resolution of this dispute, and Mackessy's repeated attempts to advance meritless arguments deprive him of that finality and security.

IV. <u>Conclusion</u>

Allinger respectfully requests this court deny the petition for review. Allinger respectfully requests attorney fees for responding to this appeal as Mackessy has significant ability to pay and Mr. Allinger has a need for an award for fees. Additionally, this appeal is frivolous and this court has authority to award fees in a frivolous appeal.

Dated: 2/15/17

Respectfully submitted,

Spencer W. Harrington, WSBA # 35907 Attorney for Mr. Allinger

Harrington Law Office, PLLC 1517 W. Broadway Avenue Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 838-8300